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WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 28, 2016, AT 9:19 A.M. 

 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Good morning, Your Honor, I’m ready, page 2. 

 THE COURT:  How are you doing, Mr. Schwarz? 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Judge, I’m just fine.  How are you? 

 THE COURT:  I am well.  Morning, Mr. Coleman.  How are you doing today? 

 THE DEFENDANT:  Well; how you doing ma’am? 

 THE COURT:  I’m well; thank you. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Good morning, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Let’s do the motion to continue. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  That’s correct, Judge.   

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Your Honor, based on the fact there’s an order 

shortening time, may I respond orally? 

 THE COURT:  Absolutely. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  And I have no objection to that, Judge. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Thank you, Mr. Schwarz.  

 Your Honor, I see three issues that --  

 THE COURT:  Well, don’t you want him to argue his motion first? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Sure.  I jumped the gun.  I apologize, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  I read it. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  You’re right; and I’ll submit it. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, he can go. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  All right.  I see three issues, Your Honor.  Number one 

being that Mr. Colman’s worry about some appellate issues regarding the guilty plea 
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agreement.  I don’t -- that’s nothing that’s been changed over the course of the 

years in this case.  There’s always going to be -- he’s always going to be fighting 

that issue.  I just point -- I would just point out that the evidentiary hearing that 

they’re asking to delay for is an evidentiary hearing in the same judge that found him 

competent to enter into that guilty plea agreement and to reject his motion to 

withdraw, so I don’t think there’s really going to be any issues regarding that 

conviction in this trial, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Well, can you deal with the issue that seems to be a little more 

important to me --  

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Sure. 

 THE COURT:  -- which is the additional evaluation that needs to be done? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Absolutely, Your Honor.  Mr. Coleman has been 

evaluated by five different psychologists, Your Honor, between 2013 and 2015, and 

the one thing that they seem to agree upon, and that would be Dr. Chambers, Dr. 

Kabel [sic], Dr. Harper [sic], Dr. Sussman, and Dr. Bradley, and the one thing that 

they all seem to agree upon is that he malingers.  I don’t see in any of those five 

reports -- you don’t see a single mention of PTSD.  You do see that he pretends to 

have schizophrenia here and there, which some say is drug induced, some say he’s 

just totally malingering on; that he does it in order to gain an advantage in the legal 

system, and I think that’s what he’s doing here is now he’s bringing up yet another 

reason why he needs to be evaluated in order to once again continue a trial that’s 

been continued now four times, Your Honor.  It’s a murder --  

 THE COURT:  Six. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Six times. 

 THE COURT:  Six times. 
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 MR. SCHWARTZER:  It’s been that’s, you know, a murder that incurred in 

April of 2013, so we’re almost at four years now.  He’s been evaluated by five 

psychologists, not one of them has found that he’s had PTSD, so at this point, Your 

Honor, I think -- and, you know, I understand that Mr. Schwarz was told to do this by 

his client, but I would just -- he’s been seen by five doctors, and no one he’s seen 

said he has PTSD, so I think that issue is pretty much moot. 

 Regarding the other thing, regarding the -- for -- if we get a first-degree 

conviction, having some type of mitigation evidence regarding that you have -- the 

fact that he was shot at 16, that’s stuff that’s in the report that he was actually shot; 

that’s stuff that we would -- if Mr. Schwarz needs help, we can help get those UMC 

records.  That shouldn’t be something that should delay this trial. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Nothing by -- unless you have something. 

 MR. HAMNER:  No, Your Honor. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, look, Judge, you know, I didn’t start on this case, and 

by the time I got it, I would say the lion’s share of the work had been done.  The 

habeas petition had been filed.  Motions had been filed, and Mr. Schwartzer is 

exactly right, my client had been, you know, evaluated for competency.  As far as I 

could tell going through the file, the issue of PTSD has not come up.  It was raised 

to me, and I don’t think that I have the right ethically to just discard it without bringing 

it to the attention of the Court, especially since it’s really an essential issue when a 

defense is self-defense, because it has a lot of implications for why this particular 

crime occurred.  I was unaware, and I don’t have any medical records in the huge 

file that the public -- special public defender put together of this gunshot incident.  

Mr. Coleman tells me he was shot multiply times.  I am in the process of attempting 
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to get those records from UMC where he tells me he was treated.  I think it’s 

important that we determine whether or not he had this condition, because it’s going 

to be very relevant as this is a self-defense case. 

 With respect to the plea agreement, I will submit it on that issue, except for 

the fact that -- I mean that conviction is going to -- if that conviction is reversed, 

what’s going to happen is not only can it be used for enhancement in the event of a 

first-degree murder conviction, but it’s also going to be brought up as impeachment 

if my client testifies, which he must in a self-defense case; so that’s my concern with 

that, and that hearing is January 9th in front of -- in front of Judge Smith, and I’ll 

submit it on that. 

 THE COURT:  So, Mr. Schwartzer, -- 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Yes, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  -- the other psychiatric evaluations that have been done, do 

you have copies of those records? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  I have copies of all five, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  May I see them? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Yes, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Thank you.  I’d like to trail you guys to the end of the calendar, 

so we don’t make everybody sit here while we look through these real quick? 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Sure. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  Would you like a copy of these? 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Yes; that would be great, Judge. 

 THE COURT:  Would you go make two copies, so I can give Mr. Schwartzer 
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back his original.  Don’t’ copy the first page which is his notes. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  No, I don’t want to see his notes, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  I don’t want to see them either.  I don’t think I could read them 

even if I looked at them closely. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  There might -- there might be something nasty about me in 

there.  I don’t want to see them. 

 THE COURT:  Or me.  And we’ll come back to your case in a few minutes, 

guys. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  All right. 

 THE COURT:  All right. 

[Trailed at 9:24 a.m.] 

[Recalled at 10:01 a.m.]  

 THE COURT:  Mr. Schwarz, did you get a chance to review the reports? 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  I did, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  There is one indication of a prior diagnosis of PTSD in Dr. 

Harder’s report. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  I did see that, Judge. 

 THE COURT:  It appears that the issue has already been addressed at least 

in 2013 by one of the psychologists. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, I don’t know if I’d agree with that, Judge.  I mean 

basically what Dr. Harder’s report says is that Mr. Coleman told him that he had 

been diagnosed with PTSD.  I don’t think there was really any investigation into 

whether or not he was diagnosed with PTSD or suffers from PTSD, and this is all in 
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the context of whether he’s competent to assist at his trial. 

 I would also note that two of these reports have found him incompetent and 

suggested that he be sent to Lake’s Crossing, so we’re in sort of a situation where 

even one of the reports, one of the doctors says he was the tiebreaker.  He’s here to 

break the tie; one competent, one’s not, and I’m the tiebreaker; so, you know, I 

mean out of these five reports, two of them found him not competent; but, although 

Dr. Harder did ask my client a question, and my client answered him regarding Post 

Traumatic Stress Disorder, I didn’t see any investigation in the report into whether or 

not he has it, and, you know, these reports are not ament to address whether or not 

he’s suffering from a diagnosis of PTSD for purposes of assisting in his defense, so. 

 THE COURT:  And these reports were all done in the context of competency 

evaluations. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, that’s exactly right, Judge. 

 THE COURT:  So, anything else? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  No, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  The motion to continue the trial is denied.  It appears that there 

has been adequate evaluation of the defendant’s mental health history; and while I 

understand there may not have been a direct investigation of the PTSD element, 

there have clearly been lengthy examinations of the defendant’s mental health 

history and the conclusion by most of the examiners that malingering at best. 

 I’m going to mark these as Court’s Exhibit 1 for today.  I’m going to seal them 

because they include confidential mental health information.  If you seek to use 

those as part of your mitigation issues or something else, you can, of course, seek 

to have them unsealed. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  I will, Your Honor. 
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 THE COURT:  So, how many standard jurors do you need, three panels? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  I would see -- yeah. 

MR. SCHWARZ:  I agree. 

THE COURT:  You’re with Judge Cory Mon -- or Tuesday at 1:30. 

MR. SCHWARZ:  All right. 

MR. SCHWARTZER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. SCHWARZ:  Thank you. 

THE CLERK:  January 3rd at 1:30. 

THE COURT:  Mr. Schwartzer, I’m putting you in charge of calling Joan 

Lawson, who is Judge Cory’s JEA, to confirm what the process is for jury 

instructions and things from the State, because I think Judge Cory wants to have 

those ahead of time instead of waiting to mid.  Now, Mr. Schwartzer, of course, has 

other issues, or Mr. Schwarz has other  issues. 

MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, yeah.  I do have an issue, Judge.  With respect to my 

client, obviously I’m going to have to ask to have him remanded here to the county. 

THE COURT:  I’m going to remand him to the Clark County Detention Center 

to assist you in preparation for Tuesday’s trial. 

MR. SCHWARZ:  All right.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Anything else? 

MR. SCHWARTZER:  No, Your Honor. 

MR. SCHWARZ:  No. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. HAMNER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  So, Mr. Schwartzer, you’ve got to communicate to everybody if 

there’s anything Joan tells you that applies to everybody about the case. 
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MR. SCHWARTZER:  I will, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right?  Thank you. 

 

 

 

[Proceedings concluded at 10:05 a.m.] 

* * * * * * * *  

 
  
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 
audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
 
             
                              _________________________ 
                               Paula Walsh 
                                        Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, MARCH 28, 2017, 9:55 A.M. 

*  *  *  *  *  

 THE COURT:  On Mr. Muhammad-Coleman, it ’s 293296, matter is on for 

sentencing; any legal cause or reason w hy sentencing should not go forw ard? 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  No, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  All right. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Your Honor, I guess there’s one thing I w as noticing 

w as the P.S.I. from Mr. Muhammad-Coleman’s robbery case includes a 

considerable amount of more offenses from his juvenile than the murder one.  

Some of those cases I w ould like to mention in my argument, if  at all possible.  

 THE COURT:  Wait, I’m -- 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  So I don’ t  know  if  the defense w ill have an issue 

w ith that. 

 THE COURT:  I’m confused.  Go ahead again. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  The P.S.I. from case C299066, w hich is his robbery 

w ith use case w hich he’s currently serving 8 to 20 years on.  

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  At that page 4, has a considerable amount more 

juvenile offenses than if  you look at the murder case.  

 THE COURT:  Oh, okay. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, I object to that, Judge. 

 THE COURT:  Well, have you seen a copy of it? 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  I have not. 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Why don’ t you give Mr. Schw arz a copy of it  so 

he know s w hat w e’re talking about  here. 
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 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Okay. 

 THE COURT:  I’m less concerned w ith me having it , I mean, it ’s 

something that’s available to you if  it ’s in the other P.S.I., so you can certainly 

make argument about it . 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  It  is. 

 THE COURT:  But I think they’ re -- 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  And I know  it  w asn’ t  objected to during sentencing 

in front of Judge Smith. 

 THE COURT:  Well, but I don’ t  -- 

  Mike, you didn’ t  represent him in that case, did you? 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  I did not. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  All right, Judge, I’ve seen it .  I’m st ill object ing for the 

record.   

 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Well, I’ ll allow  you to go ahead.  

  Mr. Schw artzer. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Judge, w e’ re going to ask for 25 years to life to run 

consecutive to case C299066.  The recommendation by Parole and Probation is 

23 to life w ith a consecutive amounts, w e’ re only a couple years apart from 

each other. 

  Your Honor, you -- Your Honor, you’ve heard the murder case in 

detail.  You w ere here for the jury trial.  You w atched the video.  This is one of 

the clearest cases of f irst degree murder I think I’ve seen while w orking in the 

District Attorney’s Off ice.  Mr. Coleman’s act ions in that video speaks volumes, 

the w ay he w aits until w itnesses disappear, take the f irearm, put it  direct ly to 
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Dale Borero' s head, ask for -- for the drugs, pistol w hips him a bunch of t imes 

and only until Dale defends himself, then he starts shooting and kills him, 

clearly, f irst degree murder and the jury found that w ay. 

  What Your Honor does not know , except for the judgment of 

convict ions that came in during the trial is that Mr. Muhammad-Coleman, this 

isn’ t  the f irst t ime he’s dealing w ith guns, it ’s not the f irst t ime he’s trying to 

rob somebody.  His convict ion for robbery back in 2013 occurred on March 14 th 

of 2013, one month before the murder.  Those -- those are tw o individual 

robberies.  The f irst case is a w oman by the name of Ms. Rhodes w ho’s driving 

her Porsche.  Mr. Muhammad-Coleman and his friends see her driving that 

Porsche.  They follow  her to her house.  They w ait ‘ t il she goes to the garage.  

They go into her garage.  They rob her at gunpoint of the vehicle and other 

property that she has.  Just a normal -- just an ordinary woman driving home in 

the middle of the day.   

That’s not enough for Mr. Muhammad-Coleman.  About six hours 

later they follow  another individual, this is a male now  driving a Dodge Charger.  

His name is Cesar Loza.  He drives a pretty nice Dodge Charger.  They follow  

him to his house.  They rob him at gunpoint.  That’s not enough.  They go 

inside Mr. Loza’s house w here he has a infant daughter and a w ife and they rob 

those individuals w ith his w ife and child there at gunpoint.  That’s w hat he did 

a month before he did this murder, a month before he did this robbery.  

Clearly Mr. Muhammad-Coleman has show n through his course of 

act ions that he’s an extremely violent human being w ho w ill go to all lengths in 

order to commit robberies, even as he’s show n in this case, murder somebody.  

This is not Mr. Muhammad-Coleman’s f irst -- these aren’ t  his f irst incidents w ith 
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the criminal just ice system.  He’s been doing it  since 2005 since he’s been a 

lit t le kid.  He’s been committ ing crimes.  Several of his juvenile crimes, the ones 

that are in the murder P.S.I., include assault w ith a deadly w eapon, include 

using a f irearm, include battery w ith a deadly w eapon or other sharp object w ith 

a violat ion of probation.  If  you look at the ones from the robbery case, that 

also involves use of a -- possession of a f irearm, possession of an unregistered 

f irearm, battery w ith a deadly w eapon --  

 THE COURT:  What are the dates that you’ re referring to from the robbery 

case that aren’ t  in the murder case? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Okay.  In -- f irst off , I mentioned the January 25, 

2005, larceny.  That’s just his f irst -- that ’s just to show  that his start of the 

criminal just ice system. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Then in 2008 he’s arrested for having a stolen 

vehicle, that’s August 22nd.  He’s committed to formal probation w ith 

conspiracy to commit burglary in that case on May 5 th of 2009.  He then has a 

violat ion of probation in 2009.  The next case after that is the case that is on 

the murder P.S.I., which is the June 17 th, 2009 -- 

 THE COURT:  Got it. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  -- you know , false information, assault w ith a deadly 

w eapon. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  But then December 2nd, 2009, he has a violat ion of 

probation, battery by prisoner, w hich he w as referred to suspended 

commitment on February 18 th of 2010.  And addit ionally, he has an  
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October 18 th, 2011, arrest for possession of a f irearm and a possession of 

unregistered f irearm, w hich again in December 27 th, 2011, he’s referred to 

formal probation on possession of a f irearm. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  So w e have mult iple cases in w hich he has the 

f irearm.  So based on this pretty -- I mean, despite the fact he’s so young w hen 

he commits this murder, he has a pretty lengthy criminal history including 

extremely violent cases that include rubbery w ith use in an individual’s 

household, tw ice in the same day. 

  Now  the murder case itself , Your Honor, again, you’ve seen the 

video.  I’m not going to go into great detail about this, but there w ere many 

w ays for this case to not be a homicide.  The only reason w hy it  became a 

homicide is because of w hat Muhammad-Coleman w as there to do and that 

w as to rob Dale Borero.  He’s the one w ho made the choice to commit  the 

murder.  Now  it ’s his -- it  should be this Court ’s decision, this Court ’s choice to 

put him aw ay for 25 years to life. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Judge, I don’ t  w ant to interrupt co-counsel, but my 

client w asn’ t convicted of robbery.  I think it ’s -- and I know  you are aw are of 

that, but I think it ’s, you know , procedurally misleading, he keeps saying that.  

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  He’s convicted -- he’s convicted of robbery.  He’s 

doing to 8 to 20 years.   

 THE COURT:  Well, I mean, they’ re -- they’ re entit led to make the 

argument that he was there to commit a robbery, w hether the jury ult imately 

found him guilty of a robbery or didn’ t  f ind him guilty of a robbery doesn’ t  mean 

they can’ t  make the argument that w as the purpose in going there.  So I’ ll note 
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the object ion, but you can continue. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Okay.  And I w ant to point out, he’s a convicted 

robber w ith a deadly w eapon, so w e have the judgment of convict ion, w hich 

you saw  in trial. 

 THE COURT:  Well, that ’s in the other case.  Understood. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  True.   

  So, Your Honor, based on his extensive criminal history, based on 

the violence of this case, based on the -- just the fact that this is something 

that could have been avoided in so many dif ferent w ays, I think the 25 years to 

life should run consecutive.  He shouldn’ t  get a freebie on the robberies just 

because he commits a murder a month later.  So the 25 years to life should run 

consecutive to the robbery w ith use case and w e’d submit it  on that.   

  We do have tw o speakers, both the daughter, tw o daughters of the 

vict im. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  One w as -- one was noticed, one w as not noticed.  

We have talked to Mr. Schw arz about it .  We have had two other people who 

w ere noticed w ho w on’ t speak.  They have agreed to let her speak in order to 

go forw ard w ith sentencing today. 

 THE COURT:  All right. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  And, Judge, I just want make a complete record on this 

just for my client ’s edif icat ion.  Our alternative to not going forw ard w ith the 

unnoticed w itness w ould be to have the State reset the sentencing, notice me.  

I don’ t  believe my client w ould w ant to do that.  In fact, he’s shaking his head 

no for the record.  So that is w hy w e are agreeing w ith the unnoticed w itness 
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or not complaining about that. 

 THE COURT:  All right.   

  All right, Mr. Muhammad-Coleman, is there anything you w ant to 

say, sir? 

 THE DEFENDANT:  Yes.  I w ant to say, unfortunately a person has died.  

How ever, I didn’ t  plan to kill anyone.  It w asn’ t  my intention to kill anyone.  

And as Mr. Schw artzer said, he said I went there to rob someone and that was 

my w hole reason for killing him, right?  But I beat the robberies, right?  So now  

you’ re saying that I got in a car w ith a gun and got out of the car and put a gun 

to his face and my intention w as to kill him.  But the w ay it presented at trial, 

Your Honor, w as I w ent there to rob him, he w ouldn’ t  give me his property, so I 

killed him in the process of that.  Right?  So, that’s all I w ant to say,  

Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Schw arz. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  Judge, you know , look, w e can talk about this video all 

w e w ant to.  This video w as not disposit ive of anything.  Even Detective Mogg, 

w ho clearly, you know , is a very strong w itness for the State and has very 

strong ideas about w hat happened in this case, couldn’ t  say definit ively w ho 

f ired the f irst shot.  I believe the video show s, you know , my client producing a 

w eapon f irst.  I believe the video shows my client not shooting Mr. Borero, but 

hit t ing him in the head w ith the gun to put him dow n on the ground.  And when 

that did not w ork, Mr. Borero pulls his w eapon.  And w hat happens is a 

gunfight.  This is just like the Wild West.  

  And I w ould submit to you, Your Honor, that the only reason I’m 

standing here representing Mr. Coleman is because of happenstance because 
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just as easily he could have been the murder vict im and don’ t think for a minute 

the State w ould not have prosecuted Mr. Borero for a number of dif ferent 

crimes not including being in possession w ith an intent to sell and having a 

f irearm as a prohibited person, and at the very least second degree murder or 

f irst degree murder.  When you have a situation w here either one of these 

part ies could have been killed in this incident, okay, it  sort of doesn’ t  matter 

how  it  got started.  Both of them are armed.  Both of them are there for an illicit  

purpose.  And everybody is taking their chance carrying a pistol.  And  

Mr. Borero w as armed and my client knew  he w as armed.   

  Now , obviously, the jury did not buy our self -defense argument, but 

the fact of the matter is the State could produce no w itnesses to explain w hat 

w as going on at the t ime of the shooting.  They could have had Dustin Bleak 

here w ho w as w ith them.  They could have had the other guy, Bleak’s brother, I 

can’ t  remember his name at the t ime, to say here’ s w hat w as going on.  They 

had nothing.  All they had is poor Mr. McCampbell w ho in the end couldn’ t  even 

test ify to his ow n Grand Jury test imony and in the end couldn’ t  say or w ouldn’ t 

say that my client ever threatened him w ith a gun and therefore my client w as 

acquitted of assault w ith a deadly w eapon on Mr. McCampbell.  

  Similarly, Judge, the jury acquit ted my client of not only robbery 

w ith a deadly w eapon, but of conspiracy to commit robbery w ith a deadly 

w eapon.  And so having done that, somehow  found him guilty of f irst degree 

murder w ith, you know , premeditat ion and deliberat ion and intent, somehow  

w hen that w as really only secondarily argued by the State.  Yes, they gave it  a 

lit t le lip service in their closing argument, but  the focus here w as on felony 

murder, felony murder, felony murder and in the end they didn’ t  get it .  Now  
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w e’ ll deal w ith that w ith the appeal. 

  What I w ant to tell you, Judge, is I don’ t  know  w hat happened in 

his robbery case ‘cause I w asn’ t involved in that.  But w hatever happened, the 

State w as comfortable w ith an 8-to-20 and he’s doing his 8-to-20.  Now  if  the 

State w ants to complain about his lengthy criminal record, w hy is he only 

gett ing an 8-to-20 for tw o robberies w ith use?  Okay.  I mean, you cannot 

make negotiat ions w ith people and then stand here and say, I’m using this 

crime that I negotiated for an 8-to-20 -- and I’m not accusing either of these 

gentlemen of doing that  -- as a basis for you to give him 25 years to life and run 

it  consecutive w ith that very same case.   

I think the recommendation, Judge, is appropriate.  I think the  

20-to-life is appropriate.  And I think that P and P’s recommendation for an 

addit ional 3 to 20 years is appropriate.  What is not appropriate is to run this 

case consecutive to the case he’s already doing.  I mean, f irst and foremost, I 

don’ t  know  how  much t ime he’s got left on that case, but the -- the situation is 

one case has nothing to do w ith the other.   

In the specif ic facts of this case, and believe, me, Judge, believe 

me w hen I tell you, you know , I have worn many hats in my criminal jobs and I 

know  how  tragic it  is w hen someone is murdered and being a vict im of a 

murder and having done murder investigations and done murder prosecutions 

and done murder defense, I understand how  -- how  horrible it  is for the vict ims 

to lose a beloved family member.  But if  you look at the facts of this case, 

Judge, this is not the w orst of the w orst.  This is a situation that got out of 

hand.  It ’s a gunfight.  Either one of them could have been killed.  I’m asking 

you to follow  the recommendation of Parole and Probation except for the 
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consecutive sentence to the t ime he’s doing.   

Tw enty-three years is enough.  What is the purpose of my client 

going to prison?  It  is to protect a community and it  is to see if  there isn’ t  

anything that can be done about rehabilitat ing him so that w hen he comes out 

he is not a violent person anymore.  And I’m suggesting to you, Judge, that  

23 years for a young man is enough to do that. 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Schw artzer. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  The State’s going to call Deserae. 

 THE COURT:  All right.  You’ ll raise your right hand for me, please.  

Thank you. 

DESERAE LIANA MAHIAI-BORERO, 

[having been called as a speaker and f irst duly sw orn, test if ied as follow s:] 

 THE CLERK:  Will you please state and spell your name for the record.  

 THE SPEAKER:  Deserae Liana Mahiai-Borero, D-E-S-E-R-A-E, L-I-A-N-A, 

M-A-H-I-A-I, hyphen, B-O-R-E-R-O. 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Where do you want her to stand, Your Honor? 

 THE COURT:  She can stand right w ith you.  That’s okay. 

  All right.  What w ould you like to tell me today? 

 THE SPEAKER:  I w rote something. 

 THE COURT:  Did you w rite it  dow n?  Okay. 

 THE SPEAKER:  I’m not going to sit  here today and say that my dad w as 

perfect because he w asn’ t but nor w as he a troublemaker.  He w ould give you 

the shirt  off  his back or money for you to buy one for yourself .  He may have -- 

he may have carried guns and been to prison for that and drugs, but not once 

does it  say attempted murder or even battery for that matter.  He w as a hustler 
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and he w as great at w hat he knew .  Obviously, great enough for some random 

nobody to senselessly take my father’s life over jealousy, envy, and hate.   

He has a family w ho missed him daily and grandkids w ho he’ ll never 

even know  about their grandpa.  All w e can do -- sorry. 

 THE COURT:  That’s okay. 

 THE SPEAKER:  All w e can do from today on is at least celebrate that 

f inally after four long and painful years my dad is f inally going to be rest ing in 

peace.  Why should this murderer ever be freed w hen w e, as the vict im’s family 

have to live w ith such pain and agony for the rest of our lives.   

A life for a life sentence.  The death penalty w ould be too quick and 

painless.  He deserves to sit  in jail and rot for the rest of his life w ith nothing 

but the thought and the reason of w hy he is there to begin w ith.  Today,  

March 28 th, 2017, w e celebrate just ice for my father.  And I know  that he is in 

this courtroom w ith us today.  My dad’s not the one suffering anymore.  This 

murderer w ill be.   

 THE COURT:  Thank you.  Thank you for coming to court.  

  All right.  Who else w ished to speak? 

 MR. SCHWARTZER:  Bonita. 

 THE COURT:  Good morning.  Can you go ahead and raise your right hand 

for me as w ell?  Thank you. 

BONITA BORERO, 

[having been called as a speaker and f irst duly sw orn, test if ied as follow s:]  

 THE CLERK:  Will you please state and spell your name for the record.  

 THE SPEAKER:  Bonita Borero, B-O-N-I-T-A; Borero, B-O-R-E-R-O. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  What w ould you like to tell me, ma’am? 
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 THE SPEAKER:  I’m just going to make it  short and simple.  He took my 

father aw ay, so I’m going to bring him back.  I just w ant to say thank you to 

everybody w ho’s f inally bringing my dad’s case to just ice and he can f inally rest 

in peace.  

 THE COURT:  All right. 

 THE SPEAKER:  Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  Thank you.   

  All right, w ell, look, there’s -- there’s not a lot to say,  

Mr. Muhammad-Coleman.  I mean, you have tw o lives that are essentially for -- 

or tw o groups of people w hose lives are forever changed by the murder and the 

Borero family as w ell as yourself , obviously, you’ re going to prison for a very, 

very long t ime as a -- as a young man.  But I -- I understand and I don’ t  think 

the State w as making the argument that 8-to-20 w as too light in that case, it ’s 

how  do you view  the murder know ing that w ith a month prior to this case 

occurring those other things w ere occurring. . And I agree that those are -- 

those are tw o separate events and they both deserve recognit ion from a -- from 

a punishment standpoint because w e’ re dealing w ith horribly violent crimes.   

  But I w ill also tell you that I sat through the same trial that you all 

did obviously and -- and it  w as -- and I agree w ith you, Mike, that you can’ t  just 

w atch a video and tell w hat it  is that -- that happened in a vacuum.  But I think 

w atching the video, listening to the testimony, looking at what the forensic 

evidence w as about w here shell casings w ere found, I am convinced that your 

client not only pulled the w eapon f irst but he shot f irst as well before  

Mr. Borero had produced a handgun.   

And that’s based in part on the conduct of the people in the video, 
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the reaction to certain things occurring.  I think Mr. Borero w as shot and going 

dow n before he started f iring his gun.  And I think that’s why the jury convicted 

your client of f irst degree murder regardless of w hether they think a robbery 

actually occurred, I think there w as evidence for them to say you produced a 

gun and shot the man and they -- they found him guilty on the premeditated 

and deliberate theory.  So, in any event, I w on’ t belabor it .  

  You’ re adjudicated guilty, Mr. Muhammad-Coleman, of f irst degree 

murder w ith use of a deadly w eapon, that w as Count 3; battery w ith use of a 

deadly w eapon, Count 4; conspiracy to violate uniform controlled substances 

act, Count 6; and I’m going to adjudicate you as a felon on attempt to possess 

a controlled substance in Count 7.  For the f irst degree murder charge, I have, 

under 193.165, considered the use of  the w eapon and the circumstances 

surrounding it , your criminal history, use of a w eapon in the past, any mit igat ing 

factors for purposes of adjudging an appropriate enhancement.  So for the 

murder charge, I’m going to sentence you to 20 to life, that ’s 24 0 months, 

that’s -- 

  No, no, no, hey, hey, hey.  Hey, hey, hey.   

 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes.  Sorry.  

 THE COURT:  Okay.  This isn’ t  a sport ing event.  We don’ t clap and cheer 

and things like that, please, maintain some dignity. 

  This is life in prison w ith the minimum 240 months before parole 

eligibility.  For the w eapon enhancement, 240 months maximum, 60 months 

minimum.  That runs consecutive to the murder port ion.  So it ’s a total of life -- 

aggregate of life in prison w ith a minimum 300 months before parole eligibility. 

  For Count 4, 48 to 120 months concurrent; Count 6, 24 to 60 
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months concurrent; Count 7, 19 to 48 months concurrent; and this case w ill 

run consecutive to the sentence you’ re serving in 299066.  I believe I had gone 

through and calculated the credit  up and through June 22 nd of 2015, w hich is 

w hen he w as sentenced in the other case and that is 720 days.   

 THE DEFENDANT:  Your Honor, can I say one thing? 

 THE COURT:  Yes, sir. 

 THE DEFENDANT:  I w ould like the record to ref lect that it  w as  

self-defense, heat of passion, that’s all I w ant to say. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right. 

 MR. SCHWARZ:  All right.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Thank you, guys.  

 MR. HAMNER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

PROCEEDING CONCLUDED AT 10:15 A.M. 

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
Writ of Habeas Corpus COURT MINUTES October 13, 2020 

 
A-19-806521-W Darion Coleman, Plaintiff(s) 

vs. 
Renee Baker, Defendant(s) 

 
October 13, 2020 3:00 PM Minute Order  

 
HEARD BY: Jones, Tierra  COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 14B 
 
COURT CLERK: Teri Berkshire 
 
RECORDER:  
 
REPORTER:  
 
PARTIES  
PRESENT: 

 

 
JOURNAL ENTRIES 

 
- Following review of the papers and pleadings on file herein, and considering the arguments of 
counsel, the COURT FINDS as follows.  The Court finds that the Petition is not procedurally barred 
under NRS 34.726.  The Court finds good cause for the delay.  The COURT FURTHER FINDS that 
none of Petitioner s claims are waived pursuant to NRS 34.810.  As for the claim regarding the 
sentencing court s reliance on improper evidence, the COURT FINDS that this claim lacks merit.  The 
COURT FINDS that the sentencing court did not rely on improper evidence as there is no language in 
the sentencing transcript to indicate that the Court specifically relied on Detective Miller s testimony.   
The sentencing Court specifically stated that it had presided over the entire trial and that it was 
considering the evidence that was presented at trial to determine that the Petitioner was the first 
person to fire his weapon.    The COURT FURTHER FINDS that the Detective Miller s testimony did 
not amount to comment on the Defendant s post-arrest silence.  The COURT FURTHER FINDS that 
Petitioner did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel in counsel s cross examination and failure 
to object to the testimony of Detective Miller.  Under Strickland v. Washington, the Petitioner must 
show that counsel s cross-examination of Detective Miller or failure to object to the Detective s 
testimony fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that but for the errors, there is a 
reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different.   Neither of those 
prongs are met here.  The COURT FURTHER FINDS that Petitioner s PTSD self-defense theory claim 
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warrants an evidentiary hearing.  Accordingly, the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is DENIED IN 
PART.  
 
The State is to prepare a Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law consistent with this Order and 
submit it to the Court for signature within 10 days of the date of filing of this order.  This case will be 
set for a status check hearing on October 21, 2020 at 8:30 to set a time and date for an evidentiary 
hearing. 
 
 
    
 
 
Clerk's Note:  This Minute Order was electronically served by Courtroom Clerk, Teri Berkshire, to all 
registered parties for Odyssey File & Serve. /tb  
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

A-19-806521-W

Writ of Habeas Corpus October 21, 2020COURT MINUTES

A-19-806521-W Darion Coleman, Plaintiff(s)
vs.
Renee Baker, Defendant(s)

October 21, 2020 08:30 AM Setting of Evidentiary Hearing

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Jones, Tierra

Berkshire, Teri

RJC Courtroom 14B

JOURNAL ENTRIES

APPEARANCES CONTINUED: Mr. Schwartzer present on behalf of the State, via video, 
through bluejeans technology. 

Mr. Coleman not present and in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Court noted this 
matter is on for the limited PTSD issue. Colloquy regarding hearing times, counsel's 
availability, and coordinating with the Jail.  Court directed Mr. Schwartzer to do an order to 
produce, so the deft. will be transferred from NDC to CCDC. Mr. Zaman requested to expand 
the record and get the evaluation done by an independent doctor. COURT ORDERED request 
DENIED. Court noted what the Court is interested in, is the limited issue as to what Mr. 
Schwarz knew at the time, so any evaluation that occurs at this point, Mr. Schwarz would have 
no knowledge of that, at the time he should have argued the PTSD. Court noted this Court's 
JEA will be in touch with counsel after she confirms with DC7, that we can do this. FURTHER 
ORDERED, matter set for Hearing on the date given. Mr. Schwartzer to prepare an order to 
transport.  

NDC 

12/04/20   from 8:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m. HEARING - LIMITED ISSUE

PARTIES PRESENT:
Michael J. Schwartzer Attorney for Defendant

Waleed Zaman Attorney for Plaintiff

RECORDER: Boyd, Victoria

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 11/11/2020 October 21, 2020Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Teri Berkshire
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